
   

 
Planning Commission Minutes 

        September 7, 2021  
 

A public hearing of the Planning Commission was held on Tuesday, September 7, 2021, 
at 6 p.m. in City Council Chambers, 155 Johnston Street, Rock Hill SC.   

MEMBERS PRESENT Duane Christopher, Gladys Robinson, Shelly Goodner, Justin 
Smith, Keith Martens 

MEMBERS ABSENT Randy Graham, Nathan Mallard 

STAFF PRESENT Dennis Fields, Eric Hawkins, Leah Youngblood, Janice E 
Miller 

Vice-Chair Christopher informed attendees that cases M-2021-25 and M-2021-27 had 
been deferred until the Commission’s October 5th public hearing, and that case M-2021-
25 had been withdrawn by the applicant. 

1.  Approval of minutes of the August 3, 2021, meeting.  

Commissioner Gladys Robinson made a motion to approve the minutes from the 
August 3, 2021, meeting. Commissioner Keith Martens seconded, and the motion 
passed unanimously by a vote of 5-0 (Graham and Mallard absent).  

PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS 

2. Hold public hearing and consider a recommendation to City Council on petition 
M-2021-23 by CH Acquisitions LLC (Mark Carpenter) to rezone approximately 
31.5 acres at the intersection of Laurel Creek Drive and Twin Lakes Road from 
Residential Development District I (RD-I) in York County to Master Planned 
Residential (MP-R). Tax parcel 635-07-01-069. 

 This item was deferred to the October 5th public hearing at the request of the applicant. 

3. Hold public hearing and consider a recommendation to City Council on petition 
M-2021-25 by Eastwood Homes (Mike Kemp) to rezone approximately 26.5 acres 
at 404 Rawlinson Road and adjacent right-of-way from Residential Development 
District I (RD-I) in York County and Office and Institutional (OI) to Single-Family 
Attached (SF-A). The subject property is proposed to be annexed into the City 
of Rock Hill. Tax parcel 541-00-00-079. 

 This item was withdrawn at the request of the applicant.  

4. Hold public hearing and consider a recommendation to City Council on petition 
M-2021-26 by Mattamy Homes (Jerry Whelan) to rezone approximately 24.75 
acres at 1730 Fieldcrest Circle (portion) and adjacent right-of-way from Single-
Family Residential-5 (SF-5) to Single-Family Attached (SF-A). Tax parcel 636-01-
01-006 (portion). 

Dennis Fields, Planner III, presented the staff report. 

Commissioner Martens asked why the traffic trip numbers decrease with 31 more units 
proposed. Mr. Fields stated based on the trip generation manual used to calculate 
vehicle trips, single-family detached homes are calulated at just over 1 trip per unit 



Planning Commission     September 7, 2021 

2 | P a g e  

 

while townhomes generated approximately 0.6 trips per unit. Although there are more 
townhome units, the number of vehicle trips generated is less.  

Commissioner Justin Smith asked why staff was unable to recommend approval of 
rezoning request if the current zoning of single-family residential development 
generated more trips per day than the proposed townhome development.  Mr. Fields 
replied that Staff has to consider the City Council’s previous discussions and concerns 
regarding the Celanese Road Corridor as part of their recommendation for this case. 

The applicant’s representative, Ben Stevens, 810 Brooksmill Drive, Tega Cay, gave a 
presentation of the project and a brief history of Mattamy Homes. He noted that this 
project was calculated at approximately 3.73 units per acre. 

Matt Mandle, ESP, 3475 Lakemont Blvd, Fort Mill, described the fly-through 
presentation of the development as a whole, including architectural renderings and 
amenities. 

Mr. Stevens provided additional details on the proposed parking plan, with each unit 
having a two-car garage and full driveway to accommodate two cars, and with the 
overall development to include ample on-street parking. He described the proposed 
roundabout at Fieldcrest Circle to alleviate traffic congestion, adding that the company 
did a traffic impact analysis even though one was not required. He noted that during 
development, Mattamy would work with the Pennies for Progress Program to with 
regards to the required turn lane and road improvements on Mt. Gallant. He added 
that townhomes were a great transition use between the retail center and the single-
family residential homes nearby, noting that this project was proposed to have a 20-
foot buffer where only 10 feet were required. He stated that he understood why staff 
could not recommend approval but asked that the Commission approve the project. 

Commissioner Smith asked if the TIA recommended the left turn lane into the 
development from Mt Gallant Road. Mr. Stevens stated this was correct.  

Commissioner Smith observed that this would put a lot of traffic on Fieldcrest to get to 
I-77, adding that there did not appear to be a plan for a signal at Mt Gallant. Mr. 
Stevens stated there was not one planned for that intersection.  

The Commissioners had a brief discussion over the increase in traffic along Fieldcrest. 
Mr. Stevens commented that they had worked with the City and County traffic 
engineers to discuss alternatives, adding that there were traffic calming measures 
planned to be in place ahead of Fieldcrest.  

Mr. James Sheedy, 1732 Hardy Drive, Bristol Park HOA president, spoke in opposition 
to the request, specifically noting that given the number of parking spaces planned, it 
was possible that more than 450 cars could be in the development at any one time. 
He stated that Fieldcrest Circle was 28 feet wide, 4 feet wider than the streets in Bristol 
Park, and that many cars would still utilize Bristol Park as a cut-through. He noted that 
they had tried to get speed humps approved by the Traffic Commission but that the 
HOA had not been able to get the required number of signatures from property 
owners.  

Commissioner Smith asked why they had not been able to get signatures. Mr. Sheedy 
replied that 35% of the homes in Bristol Park were rentals, and that townhomes tended 
to be rentals as well. He stated the current single-family zoning was better than multi-
family but did note that regardless of what was constructed, there would be more 
students in the area and that the school district had recently decommissioned the 



Planning Commission     September 7, 2021 

3 | P a g e  

 

nearby Rosewood Elementary School. He indicated that the promised 30-foot buffer 
would probably be decreased to 20 feet, noting there had been promised buffers for 
homes at the rear façades the Bristol Park developer did not create. He indicated 
noise at the shopping center was an issue, stating there were delivery trucks at 2 a.m. 
He asked when the TIA had been done, because if it had been done during the 
summer break then it did not indicate the true traffic counts for the area. He expressed 
concern that while the developer was willing to coordinate with Pennies for Progress, 
Pennies might not be current with projects. He reminded the Commission of the 
residential project behind Bristol Park that began with grading eight years before but 
had not had any work done in the past four, expressing concern that if this project 
stalled after grading there would be a loss of the green space. 

Mr. Dan Ranucci, 1788 Rosewell Drive, asked if the Hidden Forest neighborhood 
across Mt Gallant had been notified, adding there would be more traffic even if a new 
left turn lane was constructed. Mr. Fields stated the public notification process 
included informing nearby HOA representatives of upcoming public hearings. He 
added that staff had been in contact with the Pennies for Progress project team, noting 
that this project may require adjustments based on the Pennies projects plan. He 
stated that a left turn lane would be constructed either way. 

Vice-Chair Christopher asked if three lanes would be constructed along a portion of 
Mt Gallant. Mr. Fields stated the plan was for a longer section of three lanes would be 
constructed along Mt Gallant whether or not this project went forward. 

Vice-Chair Christopher asked if this was planned for completion by 2026. Mr. Fields 
stated it was. 

Mr. Ranucci commented a TIA should be done after the Pennies project was 
completed. Mr. Fields stated the TIA was done during the school year. 

Mr. Ranucci stated that during rush hour, traffic backed up on Mt Gallant. Vice-Chair 
Christopher asked if Mr. Ranucci was in favor or opposed to the project. Mr. Ranucci 
stated he was opposed. 

Commissioner Martens asked if the number of single-family or townhome units 
included the triangular piece located to the north. Mr. Fields stated the number of units 
was based on the available developable area and did not include the triangular area 
outside of the project limits. 

Commissioner Martens asked the number of lots. Mr. Fields stated he was not sure 
because the road would need to be extended, speculating that possibly 5 or 6 could 
be constructed on the triangular area. 

Vice-Chair Christopher asked if the triangular area was being purchased. Mr. Stevens 
stated it was not. 

The applicant, Mr. Jerry Whelan, 12642 Framfield Court, Huntersville NC, responded 
to Mr. Sheedy’s comments pertaining to rental units stating each purchase contract 
stipulated that the units would not be for rent, and that an HOA management company 
would be in place to make certain this did not happen. 

Vice-Chair Christopher asked if the garages would be accessed off the alley. Mr. 
Whelan stated they would. 

Vice-Chair Christopher asked if the eight units facing Mt Gallant would be accessed 
from Mt Gallant. Mr. Fields stated they units would have a finished façade facing Mt 



Planning Commission     September 7, 2021 

4 | P a g e  

 

Gallant but the driveway would be to the rear, adding that none of the units would 
driveways to Mt Gallant. 

Mr. Whelan stated they had spoken with the school district and that students would 
attend Cherry Road Elementary. Members of Bristol Park stated elementary students 
were zoned to attend India Hook Elementary.  

Vice-Chair Christopher asked if the plan would change in the future. Mr. Whelan stated 
it could possibly.  

Mr. Fields commented that the stub at Riverview Commons Drive would be used to 
access this development, and that staff would not require a connection to the end of 
Arboretum Road.  

Ms. Betsy Settevendemio, 2027 Arboretum Road, asked if the TIA had been done 
during the pandemic. Mr. Michael Wickline, Design Resource Group, 2459 Wilkinson 
Blvd, Charlotte, traffic engineer, responded that the TIA had been performed during 
the pandemic. He noted that the SCDOT traffic count averages took into account a 
12% reduction in traffic, which was used to calculate trip counts during the pandemic. 
He stated that as the averages have risen with the increase in traffic, they have kept 
up with the calculations for this project.  

Commissioner Smith commented that while the by right use of the property as a single-
family residential development, the increase in traffic created by any residential 
development was not desired, adding that he did not want to make a current bad 
situation worse.  

Commissioner Smith made a motion to recommend to City Council approval of Single-
Family Attached (SF-A) zoning as presented by staff. Commissioner Martens 
seconded. 

Commissioner Goodner commented this was a good product but put into a bad 
situation with the current traffic issues in that area, adding this would make the 
situation worse. 

Vice-Chair Christopher commented there would be some sort of development built in 
that area and Celanese was a difficult traffic situation regardless of what is constructed 
on the site. 

There being no further discussion, Vice-Chair Christopher called for a vote and the 
motion failed by a vote of 1-4, with Vice-Chair Christopher voting in favor and 
Commissioners Smith, Goodner, Robinson, and Martens voting in opposition 
(Graham and Mallard absent). 

5. Hold public hearing and consider a recommendation to City Council on petition 
M-2021-27 by Integrity Development Group (Johnnie Hastings) to rezone 
approximately 23.2 acres at 1790 W Main Street, 1227 & 1279 Heckle Blvd, three 
unaddressed parcels, and adjacent right-of-way from Residential Development 
District I (RD-I) and Residential Development District II (RD-II) to Single-Family 
Attached (SF-A). The properties located in York County are proposed to be 
annexed into the City of Rock Hill. Tax parcels 595-00-00-052 to -055, & 595-01-
01-006. 

 This item was deferred to the October 5th public hearing at the request of the applicant. 

6. Hold public hearing and consider a recommendation to City Council on petition 
T-2021-04 by City of Rock Hill Planning Commission to amend the Zoning 



Planning Commission     September 7, 2021 

5 | P a g e  

 

Ordinance of the City of Rock Hill by making text changes affecting Chapter 1:: 
General Provisions and Chapter 3: Zoning Districts to establish a Design 
Overlay District (DOD) and to apply it to the properties listed therein. 

Planning & Development Director, Leah Youngblood, presented the staff report. 

Vice-Chair Christopher asked for more details on tower signage. Ms. Youngblood 
replied that the tower and signage needed to be in scale with the structure.  

Commissioner Smith commented he saw these regulations as subjective. Ms. 
Youngblood noted the Commission would be the appeal board to determine whether 
a request met the design standards.  

Commissioner Smith observed that a design-based code would be subjective. Ms. 
Youngblood reiterated these guidelines would only apply when major façade changes 
were proposed, adding this may not affect very many of the properties within the 
overlay district. 

Commissioner Smith asked if the district would only apply to those parcels on the map 
provided. Ms. Youngblood stated this was correct. 

Commissioner Smith asked the areas with potential for residential development. Ms. 
Youngblood stated there were not many at this point but there was the potential for 
residential development as areas were annexed into the City.  

Commissioner Smith commented that the district would expand as annexation 
occurred. Ms. Youngblood agreed, indicating an area to the south as a possible 
residential development area if annexed. She noted the district was composed of main 
corridor areas throughout the City and other areas ripe for development. 

Commissioner Martens asked the amount of design control currently enforced in these 
areas. Ms. Youngblood replied only what was defined in the Zoning Ordinance. 

Commissioner Martens asked if the developments along Cel River Road be subject 
to site plan approval. Ms. Youngblood stated they would be reviewed by staff and the 
Commission. 

Commissioner Martens stated that generally speaking, the standards looked nice but 
seemed subjective, adding he had concerns that a property annexed would have to 
meet extensive standards. Ms. Youngblood replied the standards would only apply in 
cases where expansion of more than 75% of the value of the building was proposed, 
adding that this might not even apply in a number of instances. 

Commissioner Smith asked the recourse to the property owner if staff did not see the 
applicant’s proposal as reasonable. Ms. Youngblood stated the Planning Commission 
would then review the request.  

Commissioner Smith commented that while he agreed with some of the standards but 
did not want to hold property owners to added expenses. Ms. Youngblood reiterated 
that it was the desire to raise the standards in particular corridor areas.  

Vice-Chair Christopher asked if the standards would apply to new construction. Ms. 
Youngblood stated they would. 

Vice-Chair Christopher asked how the email distributed to the Commission related to 
the text amendments. Ms. Youngblood stated the writer, Ben Fewell, was a property 
owner wanting infrastructure on his property, expressing how difficult it was to market 
the property without the necessary infrastructure. 



Planning Commission     September 7, 2021 

6 | P a g e  

 

Mr. Ben Fewell, 1755 Grey Rock Drive, Fort Mill, property owner, commented that he 
was against some of the guidelines proposed, that he had been trying to get water 
and sewer in order to develop his property for a number of years, and that he had 
protested the annexation several years before. He asked that he be excluded from the 
district if the current standards were adopted as the requirements were too costly for 
small businesses to afford.  

Commissioner Smith asked the location of Mr. Fewell’s property. Mr. Fewell stated 
these at the intersection of Riverview and Cherry Road.  

Commissioner Smith asked why there was no water or sewer service. Ms. Youngblood 
stated she was not certain. Mr. Fewell stated he had tried to get water and sewer 
service in the early 2000’s but was told by the utilities department that he would need 
to add piping and a pump station in order to connect to nearby facilities but were too 
expensive to install. 

Commissioner Smith asked Mr. Fewell felt this was financially burdensome. Mr. Fewell 
stated he did, that while this was a great location, he was stuck because of the lack of 
infrastructure. 

Mr. Jeremy Whitesell, 430 Kinsey Creek, spoke in opposition to the request, stating 
he had experienced issues with trying to install a sign along the interstate side of his 
business located on Riverview Road. He added that he did not see that the guidelines 
proposed made common sense and would create unintended consequences to 
property owners. He referred to the signage section of the guidelines asking if the blue 
stripe on his building was considered signage. He also noted that when Riverview 
Road was widened, he would have to move his sign, asking if he would be required 
to meet the new standards. Ms. Youngblood stated the blue stripe was not considered 
part of his signage and there were allowances made when a road project required the 
replacement of an existing sign. 

Mr. Louis Williamson, 1452 Lacy Lane, stated he did not understand why this applied 
to only a specific area and not the entire City. 

Commissioner Goodner asked if there would be any impact on Mr. Fewell if his tenants 
changed. Ms. Youngblood stated there would only be an impact if a car lot were 
proposed to locate there or if the owner proposed to make a significant change to the 
property.  

Commissioner Goodner asked the percentages that would indicate a significant 
change. Ms. Youngblood stated 50% expansion or improvement value of 75% of the 
assessed value of the building.  

Commissioner Smith asked if this was the final draft. Ms. Youngblood stated it was 
but that changes could be incorporated until City Council’s second reading. 

Commissioner Smith asked for clarification on whether the Planning Commission or 
the Zoning Board of Appeals would make the final decision. Ms. Youngblood stated 
the Planning Commission, specifically due to the fact that the ZBA must make its 
decision based on four criteria that may not necessarily be possible to be met in the 
proposed guidelines. She added that the Commission was more ready to evaluate 
design consideration based upon their experience with these types of projects. 

Vice-Chair Christopher asked if the guidelines applied only to certain corridors and not 
the entire City. Ms. Youngblood stated this was correct. 



Planning Commission     September 7, 2021 

7 | P a g e  

 

Commissioner Smith asked the other overlay districts. Ms. Youngblood responded 
there were two other overlay districts, the Airport Overlay and Historic Overlay 
districts. 

Vice-Chair Christopher asked if the guidelines would fall in line with the goals of the 
Comprehensive Plan. Ms. Youngblood stated while it would have been beneficial to 
review this during the Comp Plan process, the guidelines were not inconsistent with 
the goals and supported the values of the Comp Plan. 

Vice-Chair Christopher asked if the Panthers project was a trigger for these guidelines. 
Ms. Youngblood stated this and the possible Galleria redevelopment were both 
instrumental in getting the guidelines moving forward. She added that while the 
guidelines were not proposed to be applied City-wide at this point, it may go in that 
direction in the future depending upon City Council. 

Commissioner Smith asked if Mr. Fewell’s properties would be adversely impacted by 
the guidelines. Ms. Youngblood stated the Pennies for Progress project would help 
with sewer and water installation but would not affect those leasing the property. 

Commissioner Martens asked how much of the properties included in the proposed 
district were undeveloped. Ms. Youngblood stated she was not sure, but there were 
several large undeveloped tracts included, adding there were some older corridor 
areas included that were developed that could be redeveloped where these guidelines 
could be applied. 

Vice-Chair Christopher asked if Anderson Road was included. Ms. Youngblood stated 
the properties located in the City were included. 

Commissioner Smith made a motion to recommend to City Council approval of the 
text amendments to the Zoning Ordinance establishing a Design Overlay District 
(DOD) as presented by staff. Commissioner Robinson seconded. 

Commissioner Robinson expressed concern that there did not appear to be much 
flexibility within the guidelines for property owners.  

Commissioner Smith stated his concern over subjectivity was in relation to staff 
making all the decisions regarding design, but was comfortable as the Commission 
would make the final decision in these matters. 

Commissioner Martens observed the new level of complexity in design regulations, 
adding that it was difficult to legislate taste. He stated that the Panthers made their 
investment in the community the way it was when they purchased the property and 
that these guidelines seemed to create a lot of hoops for applicants to jump through 
to meet. 

Vice-Chair Christopher agreed with the comments made, adding that he understood 
the long-term objective for the City although he admitted that he did not know how this 
would work and they would not know until something happened. 

There being no further discussion, Vice-Chair Christopher called for a vote and the 
motion passed by a vote of 3-2, with Vice-Chair Christopher and Commissioners 
Smith and Goodner voting in favor and Commissioners Robinson and Martens voting 
in opposition (Graham and Mallard absent). 

NEW BUSINESS 

7. Consideration of a request by McAdams (Eddie Moore) for Preliminary Plat 



Planning Commission     September 7, 2021 

8 | P a g e  

 

approval for Colvin Park. (Plan #20202380) 

 Dennis Fields, Planner III, presented the staff report. 

 Vice-Chair Christopher asked if the developer would provide resources to upgrade 
Russell Street. Mr. Fields stated they had agreed to do so. 

Vice-Chair Christopher asked for clarification of the floodplain areas. Mr. Fields 
pointed out those areas as well as the easements on the plan submitted by the 
applicant. 

Vice-Chair Christopher asked if curb and gutter, City water and sewer, and streetlights 
would be installed. Mr. Fields stated these would, although some existing streets may 
not be included. 

Commissioner Smith observed there were three separate and distinct areas included 
as part of the development, asking if there were any issues with this being a single 
neighborhood. Mr. Fields stated the developer could best answer this question, that 
they may have separate names for each area, but that the request was to approve a 
project within a single piece of property.  

Mr. Charles Smalls, 785 E Laney Terrace, HOA president, stated that the community’s 
concerns had been addressed at the neighborhood meeting. 

Commissioner Martens made a motion to approve the Preliminary Plat as presented, 
subject to staff comments. Commissioner Smith seconded, and the motion passed 
unanimously by a vote of 5-0 (Graham and Mallard absent). 

8. Consideration of a request by Urban Design Partners (Nevin Gentry) for Major 
Site Plan approval for Dunbar Place Apartments, part of the Old American 
Legion Master Plan Development. (Plan #20202187) 

Dennis Fields, Planner III, presented the staff report. 

Vice-Chair Christopher asked why a handicap space was located by the dumpster. 
The applicant, Nevin Gentry, 631 Mallory Drive, stated this space was designed to 
allow a handicap individual immediate access for garbage disposal. 

Commissioner Smith asked the landscaping plans. Mr. Gentry stated the screening 
was designed for the residents and to allow for a pedestrian courtyard area as an 
additional amenity. 

Commissioner Smith asked if the area would be fenced. Mr. Gentry stated it would.  

Commissioner Smith asked the type of fence. Mr. Gentry stated he was not sure at 
this time but that it would be a heavier screened fence. 

Vice-Chair Christopher asked if there would be a bioretention area. Mr. Gentry stated 
this would depend on the requirements for the site. 

Commissioner Goodner made a motion to approve the Major Site Plan as presented, 
subject to staff comments. Commissioner Robinson seconded, and the motion passed 
by a vote of 5-0 (Graham and Mallard absent). 

9. Consideration of a request by Hagen Engineering (Tim Shaw) for Preliminary 
Plat and Major Site Plan approval for the Marvell Master Plan Development. 
(Plan #20201369) 

Dennis Fields, Planner III, presented the staff report. 



Planning Commission     September 7, 2021 

9 | P a g e  

 

Commissioner Smith, in response to Mr. Fields comment that garages used as 
storage would not count towards required parking, asked if this was spelled out in the 
Master Plan documents. Mr. Fields stated this was part of the Zoning Ordinance 
regulations and that the applicant had not requested this flexibility in the approved 
documents. 

Vice-Chair Christopher asked if the single-family houses had garages and were to be 
rear loaded. Mr. Fields stated they would be but that this was not part of the plans 
presented to the Commission at this time.  

Commissioner Smith asked about the three covered parking areas. Mr. Fields stated 
these were garages and if they stayed in place, they would be required to be more 
aesthetically pleasing. 

Commissioner Smith asked if there was a commercial component in this area. Mr. 
Fields stated there was not. There was general discussion over the previous plans 
that included mixed use and commercial areas for this site. 

Vice-Chair Christopher asked if City Council had any traffic concerns. Mr. Fields stated 
they did not as this was addressed at the Planning Commission level. 

Commissioner Robinson made a motion to approve the Preliminary Plat and Major 
Site Plan as presented, subject to staff comments. Commissioner Smith seconded, 
and the motion passed unanimously by a vote of 5-0 (Graham and Mallard absent). 

10. Consideration of a request by Burton Engineering Associates (Chase Burton) 
for Major Site Plan approval for an Industrial Building located at 1533 Galleria 
Boulevard. (Plan #20150405) 

Dennis Fields, Planner III, presented the staff report.  

Commissioner Smith asked if this property was included as part of the Design Overlay 
District (DOD). Mr. Fields stated it was originally but removed as it was not visible from 
I-77. Ms. Youngblood added that all of the Legacy Park area had originally been part 
of the district but removed since the majority of the area had already been developed. 
Mr. Fields added that the loading docks were located towards the rear so it met the 
requirements. 

Commissioner Martens made a motion to approve the Major Site Plan as presented, 
subject to staff comments. Commissioner Goodner seconded, and the motion carried 
unanimously by a vote of 5-0 (Graham and Mallard absent).  

11. Other Business. 

 Change November 2 meeting date. 

 Dennis Fields, Planner III, noted that because there may be a mayoral runoff election 
on November 2, staff was requesting moving that hearing to November 9. 
Commissioner Martens made the motion to move the meeting to November 9. 
Commissioner Goodner seconded, and the motion passed unanimously by a vote of 
5-0 (Graham and Mallard absent).   

12. Adjourn. 

 There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 8:29 p.m. 




